


liminary notes he may have had in the preparation of this article. Internal
evidence suggests reliance on Fairfax Harrison’s Landmarks of Old Prince
William.

Montague described Lee’s land in that area in modern terms as:

Its inland boundary ran up Donaldson Run and a branch thereof to Thomas
St.; thence northward, generally west of Military Road and then to the overpass
that carries Old Glebe Road over the new road, to Pimmit Run at a point about
900 yards above its mouth; thence up Pimmit Run to a point southwest of Fort
Marcey [sic]; thence a little west of north (including Fort Marcey [sic]) to the
river at the Little Falls.

Montague relates that Frances Awbrey died in 1741 leaving the ferry
and the inn to his son Richard who, in 1748, moved them to Analostan
Island (now Theodore Roosevelt Island).

Fairfax Harrison in “Thomas Lee at the Falls” ® mentions that there was
a ferry at the Pimmit Run site prior to 1737, citing Robert Brook’s Poto-
mac map of that year as showing ‘“Magee’s ferry” there. He also says that
Brooke mentioned the ferry in his expense account for that survey, giving
the Calendar of Virginia State Papers, vol. 1, p. 229 as his source. He fur-
ther says that Awbrey’s ferry license is to be found in Hening, vol. 5, p.
66, and gives the Journal of the House of Burgesses, 1742-49, p. 262 and
p. 325 as the source for his statement that the ferry was moved in 1748
to Analostan Island.

This seems straightforward enough until one begins to examine the ref-
erences and check a little further.

Robert Brook’s map of 1737 distinctly shows “McGees Ferry” ¢ on the
Georgetown side of the mouth of Rock Creek, although the map runs as
high as the Falls and thus would encompass the Chain Bridge area.’

The bill which Robert Brooke presented on April 25, 1737, claimed re-
imbursement for hiring a canoe to go from “Capt. Awbreys to Shenendo
[Shenandoah] and down to Sinigar [Seneca Creek],” and for the hire of a
horse and boy (John Wilcoxon’s son) to “bring our things from Sinigar to
Magees [sic.].” There is no mention of ferriage nor would such a trip re-
quire any below the Falls if it were all on the Maryland side of the river.

Francis Awbrey’s will ® did leave to his son Richard the “fifty acres
where the ferry and ordinary is kept.” But how could he have left such

5 Fairfax Harrison, Landmarks of Old Prince William (Richmond: Old Dominion
Press, 1924), p. 143 ff.

6 The name appears variously as “Magee” and “McGee” throughout the contemp-
orary references.

7 Neither the Chain Bridge nor Georgetown were in eXistence at the time; the des-
ignations are used for easy modern reference.

8 Prince William County Will Book “C,” p. 341. It was dated December 14, 1741,
witnessed February 22, 1741, and probated March 23, 1741. The latter two dates are
Old Style, i.e., the new year began on March 25. The change to the present style
was made in 1753.
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“appurtenances”?) but the charge to Boggess seems to imply that there
was such an installation there. Were there two Awbrey ferries?

The Journal of the House of Burgesses entries cited by Harrison report
the receipt of a petition of “sundry inhabitants of the County of Fairfax”
praying that the public ferry “now established by law below the Falls of
Patomack River, on the land of John Awbrey, deceased” be moved “about
Half a Mile higher up [emphases supplied] upon the lands of George Ma-
son.” By this time, Mason had acquired the Struttfield and Owsley grants
along the river. Note that this ferry is described as “below” not “at” the
Falls, possibly to distinguish it from another ferry on the Potomac at the
Great Falls. That the petition was granted is apparent from Chapter 16
of the Acts of the session which began October 1748 * for the regulation
of ferries which includes one “from the plantation of George Mason oppo-
site to Rock Creek, over to Maryland.”

The ferry moved in 1748 could hardly have been moved up to Mason’s
land had that ferry been at the Chain Bridge site or at the Great Falls. It is
difficult, in any event, to believe that this action was taken by Richard
Awbrey (as stated by Montague) four years after his will was probated.

No Ferry at Pimmit Run

There are further indications that, whether Awbrey’s ferry was above or
below the Falls, there was no ferry running from the mouth of Pimmit
Run in the early 1700s. William Boylstone, one of the witnesses in the’
Carlyle v. Alexander suit cited above, testifies that “there was no path lead-
ing as the road from Alexandria to the Falls of Potomac now goes [essen-
tially the Glebe Road of today] till within this twelve or thirteen years
past.” This was in 1767. If the ferry had been at the Little Falls as early
as 1737, would not a road or path have been developed prior to the early
1750s between there and the scttlements that became Alexandria? The
“plain road” to the ferrv, according to Benjamin Sebastian (v.s.) ran quite
otherwise.

A statement made by a John Abington before the Governor and Council
of Maryland in 1728 shows that the road to Annapolis ran from the “Ferry
on Rock Creek” side.?® No roads are shown on maps of the period running
from the Maryland side of the river in the Chain Bridge area.

Possible Explanations

What possible explanation can there be for this confusion?
In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a tenable assumption is that
Montague relied on Harrison as the basis for his statement that Lee “en-

19 Hening, VI, p. 19.

20 Quoted by Bessie Wilmarth Gahn in “George Washington’s Headquarters” in
Georgetown and Colonial Days, Rock Creek to the Falls (Silver Spring: Press of
Westland, 1940), p. 91.
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